

EMPLOYEE RULES & REGULATIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

l.	GENERAL PROVISIONS	
	A. ADOPTION OF EMPLOYEE RULES AND REGULATIONS	4
	B. COVERAGE OF RULES AND REGULATIONS	
	C. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT POLICY	
	D. DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT, AND RETALIATION POLICY	5
	E. REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION POLICY	
	F. ETHICS AND APPROPRIATE BUSINESS PRACTICES	5
	G. WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY	
	H. EMPLOYEE ACCEPTANCE OF POLICIES AND REVISIONS TO RULES AND REGULATIONS	5
II.	DEFINITIONS	6
III.	GENERAL EMPLOYMENT POLICIES	
	A. CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYMENT	11
	B. HIRING AND PROMOTION	
	C. PROBATIONARY PERIODS	15
	D. TRANSFERS	16
	E. REINSTATEMENT	
	F. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	16
	G. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT	
	H. PERSONNEL RECORDS	
	I. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
IV.	HOURS OF WORK	
	A. WORK SCHEDULES AND WORK PERIODS	19
	B. MEAL PERIODS	20
	C. REST PERIODS	20
	D. MANDATORY REST PERIODS	21
V.	POSITION CLASSIFICATION	22
VI.	PAY	
	A. COMPENSATION POLICY	23
	B. SALARY RANGES	23
	C. MERIT INCREASES	23
	D. PAYMENT OF COMPENSATION	25
	E. OVERTIME	25
	F. STANDBY DUTY	27
	G. ESTABLISHMENT OF RATES OF PAY	28
VII.	ATTENDANCE, LEAVES, AND BENEFITS	
	A. VACATIONS	32
	B. HOLIDAYS	34
	C. LEAVES	36
	D. INSURANCE	44
	E. RETIREMENT PLAN	44
	F. TUITION ASSISTANCE	44
	G. CAREER DEVELOPMENT	
	H. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSE REIMBURSEMENT	45

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	I. UNIFORMS J. SERVICE AWARDS	
VIII.		
VIII.	LATOFF AND RECALL	
	A. LAYOFF	48
	B. DISPLACEMENT/BUMPING RIGHTS	
	C. REEMPLOYMENT LIST	
	D. RECALL	49
IX.	SAFETY	50
Χ.	PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS	
	A. EVALUATION PROCESS	51
	B. PROBLEM SOLVING PROCESS	
XI.	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
	A. PURPOSE	53
	B. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE STEPS	
	C. GENERAL PROVISIONS	54
XII.	DISCIPLINARY ACTION	
	A. CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINARY ACTION	55
	B. KINDS OF COUNSELING, REPRIMANDS, AND DISCIPLINARY ACTION	56
	C. NOTIFICATION OF PROPOSED DISCIPLINARY ACTION	
	D. ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW	
	E. HEARING OFFICER PROCEEDING	
XIII.	EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	
7 1111.		
	A. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS	
	B. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	
	C. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION LISTING D. BULLETIN BOARDS	
XIV.		
7 (1 7 1		
	A. GRIEVANCE REPRESENTATION	
	B. AUTHORIZED PROBLEM-SOLVING REPRESENTATIVES	
	C. NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIVES	
	E. TIME OFF	
	F. REQUIREMENTS OF TIME OFF	
	G. GOOD FAITH EFFORT	62

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. Adoption of Employee Rules and Regulations

These Employee Rules and Regulations (Rules and Regulations) establish the personnel system for the Mesa Water District, hereinafter referred to as "District" or "Mesa Water®". The Board of Directors has authority to adopt these Rules and Regulations and all additions, deletions, amendments or other changes to these Rules and Regulations. These Rules and Regulations supersede and replace all previous Rules and Regulations. Mesa Water also follows provisions of the Memoranda of Understanding (MOU), which cover wages, hours and working conditions. If a provision of these Rules and Regulations conflicts with any provision of the MOU, the provision of the MOU will be deemed controlling unless the rules have been negotiated more recently. In addition, there will be work rules, policies and practices that will apply within work units.

These Rules and Regulations do not create any contract of employment, express or implied, or any rights in the nature of a contract.

The District retains full and exclusive authority and discretion to modify these Rules and Regulations at any time in accordance with law.

B. Coverage of Rules and Regulations

These Rules and Regulations apply to all Mesa Water employees unless specifically noted as excluded.

C. Equal Opportunity Employment Policy

Mesa Water subscribes to the public policies of the United States and the State of California as expressed in all applicable statutes that protect the right and opportunity of all persons to seek, obtain and hold employment without discrimination because of race, religious creed, color, age (40 and over), sex/gender, gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, physical or mental disability, medical condition, national origin, ancestry, genetic information or characteristics, marital status, disability, military or veteran status, request for protected leaves, filing a charge of discrimination or participating in a discrimination investigation, or any other basis protected by law.

Mesa Water will afford equal employment opportunity to all qualified applicants and employees as to terms and conditions of employment, including recruitment, selection, offers of employment, training, promotion, compensation, transfer, discipline, and termination. Any employee, volunteer, or applicant who believes they have experienced any form of employment discrimination or abusive conduct are encouraged to report the conduct immediately by using the complaint procedure outlined in Mesa Water District's Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation Policy and Complaint Procedure.

D. Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation Policy

Mesa Water District maintains a strict policy prohibiting all forms of discrimination and/or discriminatory harassment in the workplace. This policy applies to all regular, probationary, part-time, limited term and temporary employees, management, supervisors, Board members and contractors working with Mesa Water. Disciplinary action will be taken against any employee, supervisor, department manager or otherwise, who engages in discrimination and/or discriminatory harassment in the workplace. (See Mesa Water District's detailed Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation Policy and Complaint Procedure.)

E. Reasonable Accommodation Policy

Mesa Water will comply with the employment-related reasonable accommodation requirements of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act.

F. Ethics and Appropriate Business Practices

Mesa Water expects all employees to conduct themselves according to high standards of ethical behavior and use only appropriate and permissible business practices. These Rules and Regulations are intended to outline these guidelines, and all employees will be expected to hold themselves and their actions to these standards.

G. Whistleblower Policy

Mesa Water prohibits District employees from taking any retaliatory adverse employment actions due to an employee filing a whistleblower complaint and protects employees pursuant to requirements set forth in the Labor Code. The District will investigate any alleged adverse action in connection with a whistleblower complaint.

H. Employee Acceptance of Policies and Revisions to Rules and Regulations

As a condition of employment, the District requires that each employee read, and if necessary, request clarification regarding these Rules and Regulations.

Each employee must sign a statement of receipt acknowledging the following: (1) they have received a copy or have been provided access to the Rules and Regulations; and (2) they understand that they are responsible for reading and becoming familiar with the contents of the Rules and Regulations, as they are currently drafted as well as with all subsequent revisions to the Rules and Regulations.

II. DEFINITIONS

The following terms, whenever used herein, will be defined as follows:

Advancement: A salary increase within the limits of the pay range established for a classification.

<u>Anniversary Date:</u> The date of appointment, employment, reinstatement or recall to a position, unless otherwise provided herein.

Applicant: Any person submitting a formal completed application for employment with Mesa Water District

Appointment: The employment of a person to a position.

<u>At-Will Employee:</u> An employee who does not acquire a property interest in the position held and can be terminated without cause or right of appeal. Management, certain designated supervisory and confidential employees, part-time, temporary, and probationary employees are considered at-will employees and serve at the pleasure of the General Manager.

<u>Base Salary or Base Pay:</u> An employee's rate of pay, excluding overtime and any other fringe benefits.

Break in Service: Resignation, discharge, layoff of the employee (if not rehired within one (1) year of layoff), unapproved leave of absence, or approved leave of absence from which the employee fails to return to work.

<u>Business Day:</u> Any day Mesa Water is open for business, which normally includes Monday through Friday, except recognized holidays.

<u>CFRA:</u> The California Family Rights Act (State law).

<u>Classification (Class)</u>: All positions sufficiently similar in duties, knowledge, skills, abilities, and qualifications, authority, responsibility and working conditions to permit grouping under a common title and to permit the application with equity of common standards of selection, transfer, promotion, and compensation.

<u>Classification Level (Level)</u>: Generally designated by an "I" for the entry level or an "II" for the journey-level within a single classification title. Each level is associated with different maximum pay rate based on the minimum experience, education, job knowledge, and/or certifications to qualify for consideration.

<u>Classification Specification:</u> The written description of a job classification setting forth duties, knowledge, skills, abilities, qualifications and conditions, which are essential functions of positions in a classification.

<u>Classification Plan:</u> Systematic framework of grouping jobs into classifications based on similarities in duties and qualifications, as prepared and maintained by Human Resources.

<u>Compensation:</u> The salary, wage allowances and other forms of valuable considerations, earned by or paid to any employee by reason of service in any position.

<u>Continuous Service:</u> Employment with Mesa Water without break or interruption. Neither vacation leave, sick leave, bereavement leave, military leave, jury leave, nor any other authorized absence, whether with or without pay, will be construed as a break or interruption in employment unless expressed as part of an agreement or a condition of an extended leave of absence. In all instances when determining eligibility based upon length of continuous employment, the measurement shall begin with the employee's most recent date of hire.

<u>Demotion:</u> The movement of an employee from one job classification to another having a lower maximum rate of pay.

<u>Discipline:</u> Dismissal, demotion, suspension, and reduction of pay related to actions by an employee for unfavorable conduct or violations of Mesa Water's rules, regulations, or policies.

Dismissal: Discharge or involuntary termination of employment.

<u>Displacement:</u> An action whereby an employee with greater seniority in a classification takes the position of another employee who has less classification seniority.

<u>District:</u> Mesa Water District

<u>Domestic Partner</u>: A legally recognized partnership as described in the California Family Code Section 297, which is registered with the California Secretary of State.

Eligibility List: The list of candidates established after a recruitment has been conducted.

Employee: A person occupying a paid position in Mesa Water. This designation is not intended to include the Board of Directors or outside contractors/consultants.

Exempt Employee: An employee in a job classification which is considered exempt from the guidelines of the Federal overtime regulations under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and as such, is not eligible for overtime pay.

FLSA: Fair Labor Standards Act (Federal law)

FMLA: Family and Medical Leave Act (Federal law)

<u>Full-Time Employee:</u> An employee whose normal assigned work hours equal an eighty-hour (80) pay period.

<u>Grievance:</u> A complaint that the bargaining agreement, rule, or policy has been violated. Note: Not all Mesa Water rules or policies are subject to a grievance procedure.

<u>Layoff:</u> The separation of employees from the active work force due to lack of work or funds, or the abolition of the position.

Leave: Absence of an employee from work.

Non-Exempt Employee: An employee in a job classification which falls within the Federal overtime law (FLSA), and as such, is eligible for overtime pay.

<u>Out-of-Class Pay</u>: Compensation given to an employee who is temporarily assigned to a position which is allocated a higher maximum rate of pay, and who is qualified to perform this work.

<u>Paid Status</u>: Paid status includes regularly scheduled work hours, paid sick leave, vacation, holidays, and compensatory time, but excludes overtime.

<u>Part-Time Employee:</u> An employee whose normal assigned work hours are fewer than forty (40) hours per workweek.

<u>Part-Time Partially Benefited Employee</u>: A category of at-will employees hired and scheduled to work part-time a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week on an ongoing basis. Employees in this employment category may receive partial benefits as detailed in their employment offer letters and as permitted by Mesa Water's <u>Employee Benefits Summary Handbook</u>.

<u>Pay Period</u>: A pay period is a two-week period used for purposes of calculating and paying wages. Pay periods terminate each alternate Thursday.

<u>Position:</u> A combination of duties and responsibilities assigned or delegated by authority, requiring the full or part-time services of an employee.

<u>Probationary Period:</u> A working test period during which an employee is required to demonstrate fitness for the duties to which the employee is appointed by actual performance of the duties of the position.

- 1) New Employee New, full-time Mesa Water employees serve an initial twelve (12) month probationary period during which they may be dismissed without cause. (Note: Management, certain designated supervisory and confidential employees, part-time, and temporary employees are considered "at-will" employees and do not serve a probationary period.)
- 2) Promotion/Transfer Mesa Water employees who are promoted or transferred to a different classification or level serve a six (6) month probationary period, which is specific to the new classification/level and affects the employee's status as a regular employee. Failure to successfully pass the promotion/transfer probationary period may result in the employee being returned to his/her previously held classification/level.

<u>Promotion:</u> The movement of an employee from one position to another which is allocated to a higher maximum rate of pay.

Recall List: A list of regular employees who have been laid off from District employment pursuant to these Rules and Regulations.

Reclassification: A reassignment or change in allocation of an individual position by raising it to a higher classification, reducing it to a lower classification or moving it to another classification at the same salary level, on the basis of a reevaluation of the kind, difficulty, or responsibility of duties performed and/or the minimum qualifications in such position.

Reduction (in pay): A decrease in salary within the pay range established for a classification.

Regular Employee: A category of employment pertaining to full-time employees who have successfully completed the initial twelve (12) month probationary period in particular classifications and have been retained in employment with Mesa Water as hereafter provided by these Rules and Regulations.

Reinstatement: The re-employment without examination of a former regular full-time employee within one (1) year following layoff or separation from employment with Mesa Water.

Resignation: The voluntary termination by an employee from employment with Mesa Water.

Selection Process: The process of testing, evaluating, investigating, and/or determining the fitness and qualifications of applicants.

Seniority: The total amount of actual continuous service for a full-time employee, excluding breaks in service as defined in these Rules and Regulations.

<u>Standby Call-Out</u>: An after-hours service call that requires the Standby Duty employee to visit the location in person, rather than responding by telephone, radio, computer, or other electronic means.

<u>State Disability Insurance (SDI)</u>: SDI is a partial wage-replacement insurance plan for California workers, funded through employee payroll deductions, and consisting of two programs: 1) the Disability Insurance (DI) program established for workers who suffer a loss of wages when they are unable to work due to a <u>non</u>-work related illness or injury, or a medically disabling condition from pregnancy or childbirth, and 2) the Paid Family Leave (PFL) program established for workers who suffer a loss of wages when they need to take time off from work to care for a seriously ill child, spouse, registered domestic partner, or to bond with a new minor child.

Suspension: The temporary separation from Mesa Water service of an employee, with or without pay, for disciplinary purposes.

Temporary Employee:

1) **Seasonal:** An at-will employee who works either part or full-time on a temporary basis, and

whose position is funded on a seasonal or other limited time period basis normally not to exceed 960 hours in a fiscal year.

2) <u>Limited Term Employee</u>: An at-will employee who normally works full-time for the term of a project or assignment.

Termination: Separation from employment with Mesa Water.

<u>Transfer:</u> A change of an employee from one position to another position in the same classification, or in a comparable classification, or from one department or section to another.

Vacancy: Budgeted position not occupied by an employee.

<u>Workday:</u> The number of hours an employee in each position is scheduled to work on each Business Day as set forth in department procedures, exclusive of overtime hours.

Work Week: From 12:00 a.m. on Friday to 11:59 p.m. on Thursday.

III. GENERAL EMPLOYMENT POLICIES

A. Categories of Employment

1. Probationary Employees

A probationary employee is a new, full-time employee who is assigned to work eighty (80) hours per pay period and who has not completed the initial twelve (12) month probationary period. The probationary period is an extension of the testing process and must be satisfactorily completed before regular status will be granted. While on initial probation, employees are at-will employees. A probationary employee may be dismissed without cause during the initial twelve (12) month probationary period.

2. Regular Employees

Regular employees are full-time employees in designated classifications who are normally assigned to work eighty (80) hours per pay period and have completed the initial twelve (12) month probationary period as a new Mesa Water employee.

3. Confidential Employees

Confidential employees are employees who are privy to confidential information used by Mesa Water in the conduct of labor negotiations and/or the addressing of issues with recognized employee organization representatives. Certain confidential employees in designated job classifications are considered at-will employees.

4. Supervisory Employees

Supervisory employees have the authority to evaluate and make recommendations to hire, transfer, promote, evaluate, discipline, or assign other employees. Supervisory positions are normally filled by full-time employees. Depending on the job classification, supervisory employees may be at-will.

5. Management Employees

Management employees serve at the pleasure of the General Manager and are considered at-will employees. As a management employee there is an expectation that there will be occasional work beyond the hours required of other full-time employees. Management employees do not receive overtime pay but may be compensated under salary and benefits plans that are different from those applicable to other employees.

6. Part-Time Partially Benefited Employees

Part-time partially benefited employees are at-will employees who are hired to work a minimum of twenty (20) scheduled hours per week on an ongoing basis. Employees in this

category may receive partial benefits as detailed in their employment offer letters and as permitted by Mesa Water District's <u>Employee Benefits Summary Handbook</u>.

7. Temporary Employees

Temporary employees are at-will employees hired to work for a limited period of time in order to meet seasonal or other short-term labor needs.

- a. <u>Seasonal Employee / Intern</u>: A category of at-will employee who works either part or full-time on a temporary basis, and whose position is funded on a seasonal or other limited time period basis normally not to exceed 960 hours in a fiscal year. Seasonal employees are paid only for hours worked, and do not participate in benefit or leave plans (with the exception of sick leave).
- b. <u>Limited Term Employee</u>: A category of at-will employee who works either part or full-time and who is hired for a period of time based upon the project or assignment to be done. Limited term employees may receive benefits as designated in their employment contracts.

B. Hiring and Promotion

1. Posting New Jobs and Vacancies

- a. When new jobs are created or vacancies occur, Mesa Water will first attempt to fill them through the recall procedure (See Section VIII(D)-Layoff and Recall).
- b. If new jobs or vacancies are not filled through recall, Human Resources may open the recruitment to internal Mesa Water employees only. The job flyer will specify the title and salary range of the position, the nature of the work, the required/desired qualifications, the date, and time of posting and the final application deadline.
- c. If Mesa Water desires a broader base or determines there is not a competitive internal candidate pool from which to select a candidate, they may open the recruitment to the public. Job flyers announcing recruitment to the public will be advertised internally to employees.
- d. Despite the procedures described in sections (a) through (c) above, Mesa Water may make emergency appointments to satisfy an immediate staffing need.

2. Selection

a. Employees will be selected on the basis of their qualifications for the job and in compliance with laws prohibiting discrimination based on race, religious creed, color, age, gender, gender identity or expression, sex, sexual orientation, physical or mental disability, military/veteran status, medical condition, national origin, ancestry, genetic information or characteristics, marital status or any other basis protected by law.

- b. The method of selecting a new employee may consist of an evaluation of application materials, written test, performance test, interview, verifications, medical evaluations and other job-related evaluations as the General Manager or designee deems necessary and appropriate.
- c. The candidates that pass all selection steps will be placed on an eligibility list from which a final selection will be made. Candidates will remain on the eligibility list for a duration of one year from the date of the final interview. Hiring managers with vacancies within that year may decide to select a candidate from an active eligibility list or open a recruitment.
- d. The General Manager or designee will make the final decision as to hiring and promotion from the eligibility list as recommended by Human Resources.
- e. As part of the selection process, new or reinstated employees must pass a pre-placement criminal background check and physical examination. Specific job classifications may require a drug and/or alcohol screening and Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) check.

3. Application for Employment

Job applications will be made available online by Human Resources. All applications must be completed in full and submitted by the person applying. Human Resources will not process incomplete applications. Applications for positions must be received on or before the final designated application date to be considered.

After a prescribed time limit has expired, or periodically, if applications are taken on a continuous basis, Human Resources will screen applications to determine those applicants who meet the minimum or desired qualifications for the vacant position. The selection process will be structured to select the applicant who is most highly qualified for the vacancy.

4. Disqualification of Applicants

- a. Causes for Disqualification. Mesa Water may reject an application, refuse to examine an applicant, remove the name of an applicant from hiring consideration, or refuse to employ an applicant who:
 - (1) Does not meet the requirements set forth in the job flyer;
 - (2) Is physically or mentally unable to perform the essential functions of the job even with reasonable accommodation:
 - (3) Has been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor which, on a case-by-case analysis, is related in time and scope to the position in question, and no mitigating circumstances exist, as determined by the General Manager, or designee;

- (4) Has been dismissed or resigned in lieu of discharge from any position for any cause which would be cause for dismissal from District service, or whose record of employment has not been satisfactory in District service or with any other agency or entity;
- (5) Has abandoned any position in District service or has been absent from duty without approval or legally protected leave of absence;
- (6) Has made knowingly material false statements or who has attempted any fraud or deception in connection with obtaining or retaining employment with Mesa Water;
- (7) Refused to be fingerprinted;
- (8) Has secured or attempted to secure confidential information concerning an examination which might give such applicant unfair advantage over other applicants;
- (9) Refused to take or fails to pass the prescribed medical examination, which may include a drug and/or alcohol screening;
- (10) Has separated from District employment for cause;
- (11) Has failed to produce proper documentation to show a legal right to work in the U.S.;
- (12) Is a current user of illegal drugs or controlled substance;
- (13) Has failed to submit the employment application as specified by Mesa Water or within time limits; or
- (14) For any material cause which, in the judgment of the General Manager or designee, would render the applicant unsuitable for the position.
- b. Notice of Disqualification. Human Resources will notify in writing any applicant who is disqualified.

5. Nepotism

Persons related to District employees will not be considered for District employment if such employment could result in a disruption of District business, negatively affect employee morale, or create adverse problems in the areas of safety, supervision, or security. If a District employee enters into marriage or domestic partnership with another District employee, and in the opinion of the General Manager it is impossible or undesirable for both employees to continue in employment for a reason(s) noted above, one of the individuals involved must resign or be moved to another position which would eliminate the conflict. In the event that the spouses are unable to determine between themselves which individual should resign, the individual with the least seniority will be dismissed.

6. Physical Examinations

- a. Once offered a position with Mesa Water, candidates for initial employment and employees rehired after separation must successfully pass a physical examination prescribed by Mesa Water.
- b. With the approval of the General Manager and upon direction of the department manager, any employee may be required to undergo a physical examination if it is determined that such exam is necessary and related to the performance of the job function.
- c. All physical examinations prescribed by Mesa Water will be performed by a licensed physician approved and paid for by Mesa Water.
- d. An applicant who disagrees with results of an examination administered by Mesa Water District's physician may submit, for District consideration, examination results from a physician of their choice.

7. Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) Checks

Candidates for District positions which involve the operation of motor vehicles must consent to a review of their DMV driving record paid for by Mesa Water. Subsequent to employment, employees are required to participate in the DMV Employer Pull Notice Program.

C. Probationary Periods

1. New Employees

- a. New employees shall serve a probationary period of twelve (12) months during which Mesa Water will review the new employee's qualifications and work performance and determine whether the employment will be continued. New employees are subject to dismissal without cause at any time during this period at the discretion of the General Manager, and such termination will not constitute a cause for grievance or appeal.
- b. Periods of time on paid or unpaid leave exceeding five (5) Business Days (consecutive or not) will automatically extend the probationary period by that number the employee is on leave. This leave period is not intended to include authorized paid holidays or vacation.
- c. At least one formal written performance evaluation will be conducted halfway through the probationary period.
- d. At the conclusion of the probationary period, if it is determined that the new employee is performing to District standards, and Mesa Water continues to need the position, the employee's status will be changed from probationary to regular. If the employee's performance does not meet District standards, the employee's employment will be terminated at any time during the probationary period.

2. Promotions, Transfers and Reclassifications

- a. In the event of a promotion or transfer, the employee will serve a six (6) month probationary period. During this period a determination will be made as to whether the employee is able to effectively perform the duties and assume the responsibilities of the new position.
- b. If it is determined at any time during the probationary period that the employee is not satisfactorily performing the duties of the new position, the employee will be returned to the position previously held unless the position no longer exists. This process may involve displacing other employees.
- c. In the event of a reclassification, the employee's job title and/or salary range may be changed to more accurately reflect the responsibilities of the position. The reclassified employee will not be required to serve a new six (6) month probationary period and the employee's review date will not change.

D. Transfers

A vacant position may also be filled by transfer. a regular employee may initiate a request to transfer to another position in the same or lower classification or level for which the employee is qualified. With the approval of the General Manager or designee and affected department managers, the employee may be transferred to the vacant position. Employees may also be transferred by the General Manager or designee to meet District needs. Transfers will not be used to effectuate a promotion, demotion, reclassification, reduction in pay, or for disciplinary purposes.

E. Reinstatement

With the recommendation of the department manager and approval of the General Manager or designee, an employee who resigned in good standing may, within one (1) year of such resignation, be reinstated without examination in the same or comparable position. Upon reinstatement, the employee may be required to serve a new probationary period. If the employee is reinstated, the employee will be placed at the salary range and step held at the time of resignation (unless the salary range changed as a result of a classification and compensation study in which case they will be placed at the new range and at the step nearest to their prior salary) and will receive a new anniversary date. No credit for former employment will be granted in computing benefits unless mandated by law.

F. Outside Employment

With the written approval of the General Manager or designee, an employee may engage in employment other than that with Mesa Water, but only if such outside employment does not (1) interfere with performance of the employee's assigned District duties, including overtime assignments, (2) constitute a conflict of interest, or (3) create an unfavorable District image. On an annual basis, employees must submit written requests on forms provided by Mesa Water for

outside employment for approval by the General Manager. These requests shall be maintained in the employee's personnel file.

G. Training and Development

Mesa Water encourages employee development by providing the opportunity for employee training. Compulsory training may be required as a condition of continued employment. Such training programs may include lecture courses, seminars, demonstrations, reading materials, or other methods for improving job performance. Employees are responsible for all required training needed to obtain and maintain certificates or licenses required to perform their jobs. If the training is provided by Mesa Water on work time, or if Mesa Water requires an employee to attend a specific program or class, then the fees and time to attend the class will be paid by Mesa Water.

H. Personnel Records

- 1. Human Resources will maintain the official personnel file for each employee containing name, position, title, salary and other information that may be relevant to the employee's service with Mesa Water.
- 2. To ensure that District records are correct and current, each employee is responsible for keeping Human Resources promptly informed as to changes in address, phone number, marital status, dependents, and other pertinent personal information.
- 3. Upon request, and in accordance with District rules and file security, an employee may examine their own official personnel file by appointment only and under the direct observation of a Human Resources staff member.
- 4. Information in personnel files will not be disclosed to anyone other than authorized District personnel, except as may be approved by the concerned employee or required by law.

I. Termination of Employment

- 1. The effective date of termination of employment is normally the last day worked or in a paid status by an employee. If an employee is on an approved leave of absence and does not return to Mesa Water at the end of such leave, the termination date is the expiration date of the approved leave of absence.
- 2. An employee who plans to resign is requested to give the supervisor an advance written notice of at least two (2) weeks. Once submitted and accepted by Mesa Water, a resignation may not be withdrawn, except upon approval of the General Manager.
- 3. Prior to termination, employees are urged to complete an exit interview with Human Resources and are required to return all District property (keys, uniforms, etc.).
- 4. An employee is deemed to have resigned if the employee is absent for three (3) consecutive workdays without prior authorization and without notification during the period of absence.

When Mesa Water believes an employee has been absent without authorization and Mesa Water plans to invoke this provision, a written notice will be sent by certified mail to the employee's last known address at least five (5) calendar days prior to implementing an automatic resignation. Such notice will contain: 1) a statement of Mesa Water's intention to implement the employee's automatic resignation and its effective date; 2) a statement of the reasons for considering the employee to have automatically resigned; 3) a statement of the employee's right to respond, either orally or in writing, prior to the effective date of such proposed action; and 4) a statement that if the employee fails to respond to the written notice before the effective date of the automatic resignation, it will be implemented as a resignation. Employees separated from employment for job abandonment may be reinstated with such charge removed from the employee's record upon presentation of justification for absence such as severe accident, severe illness, false arrest or mental or physical impairment which prevented notification.

IV. HOURS OF WORK

A. Work Schedules and Work Periods

 Mesa Water maintains regular business hours Monday through Friday, exclusive of recognized District holidays. Mesa Water may extend business hours on one or more business days to serve its customers.

2. Work Schedules

- a. For employees working the 9/80 Schedule Employees regularly assigned to work eight (8) days of nine (9) hours per day, and one (1) alternating eight (8) hour day over the course of two (2) weeks.
- b. 5/40 Schedule Employees regularly assigned to work five (5) days in a seven (7) day work schedule, will be scheduled to work eight (8) hours per day, five (5) days per week.

Mesa Water may change the work schedule of individual employees to meet operating conditions, changing hours of daylight, safety reasons or other situations provided that employees so affected will receive at least one pay period advance notice of any change in regularly scheduled work schedule.

3. Temporary and Alternate Work Schedule

- a. Mesa Water reserves the right at its sole discretion to consider and, if mutually beneficial, approve a temporary work schedule to accommodate the specific needs of an employee. Justification for a temporary schedule request, anticipated timeframe, and method of continuing to accomplish the department workload must be discussed in advance of implementation. Approval for such modification must be obtained from the department manager and General Manager or designee.
- b. Employees, who wish to request a temporary modification to their work hours shall submit written justification and discuss the proposal with their department manager. Department managers will discuss such requests with the Management Team to determine whether such modification would be fair and consistent with Mesa Water operating needs. Employees will be notified in writing of the decision. Employees may request a review of denial of such requests with the General Manager.
- 4. Work Period. The work period begins at 12:00 a.m. on Friday and ends at 11:59 p.m. on Thursday, except for employees on a 9/80 work schedule. For employees working a 9/80 work schedule, each employee's designated work period shall begin exactly four (4) hours after the start of their eight (8) hour shift on the day of the week that corresponds to the employee's alternating day off. The work period applies to FLSA non-exempt employees for the purposes of computing overtime pay under the FLSA.

FLSA Exempt Employees. Exempt employees are expected to work the number of hours

necessary to meet the standards of job performance. Therefore, exempt employees may occasionally alter their regularly assigned work schedule during a given work week as necessary and as authorized by their department manager or designee. Any alterations that would result in the employee being absent from work for more than four (4) hours in a regularly scheduled workday must be approved in writing in advance by the employee's department manager or designee and may require the employee to take paid or unpaid leave of absence in accordance with the benefit provisions of these regulations.

5. Review of District Work Schedules

Mesa Water reserves the right to consider, approve, or modify various regular and alternate work schedules. Prior to the beginning of each calendar year, the department managers shall prepare annual plans for work schedules in their areas of responsibility that will satisfy Mesa Water's objectives for its customers and operational functions. The General Manager or designee has the authority to approve and modify work schedules for each department and employee of Mesa Water as needed.

The General Manager and department managers shall monitor the effectiveness and efficiency of work schedules and, at least once per year in December, shall determine whether to continue or modify any of the regular or alternate work schedules.

In the spirit of cooperation, employees are encouraged to discuss their suggestions or concerns with their department managers. Subsequently, affected employees may request a review with the General Manager to discuss a work schedule or a planned change in schedule. The decision of the General Manager shall be final.

Except under urgent operational conditions, Mesa Water shall provide reasonable advance notice in writing to affected employees if a work schedule change is planned.

B. Meal Periods

Meal periods are not counted as time worked and will be scheduled by the supervisor or department manager.

C. Rest Periods

- 1. For non-exempt employees, a rest period of fifteen (15) minutes may be taken each morning and afternoon and will be counted as time worked.
- 2. Rest periods will be scheduled by the supervisor for the employees in each group, and no additional compensation will be provided for rest periods not taken.
- 3. Employees are encouraged to take their rest periods but expected not to abuse this time away from work.

D. Mandatory Rest Periods

In the event an employee works fifteen (15) hours, consecutive or cumulative, in a 24-hour period starting from the beginning of a shift during Monday through Friday, said employee will be entitled to an eight (8) hour rest period that will begin once their assignment ends. If part of that rest period extends into their next regularly scheduled shift, the employee will receive straight-time pay for the portion of the shift occupied by the rest period. The employee may use any available accrued leaves for the remaining hours in their shift if they choose not to come in for the remainder of their shift that day. If there are two (2) hours or less in their next regularly scheduled shift by the time their rest period ends, employees will not be required to come in, and will receive straight-time pay for the time remaining in their shift. This policy excludes employees on Standby Duty; however, the department manager or designee will have discretion to adjust a Standby Duty employee's schedule if the circumstances require it.

V. POSITION CLASSIFICATION

- A. Classification specifications describe the essential functions of job classifications and the typical duties that an employee is expected to perform. Classification specifications are not intended to limit the work of those typical duties described since other tasks may be assigned that are similar in nature and within the scope of the job classification.
- B. Positions that are similar in type of work, level of difficulty and degree of responsibility are grouped together in the same job classification.
- C. When deemed necessary, the General Manager or designee and department managers will review the work performed by employees to determine whether they are correctly classified. If the duties of a position are found to have changed substantially, the department manager may recommend that the position be reevaluated and reclassified. Classification specifications will be prepared for all new job classifications.

VI. PAY

A. Compensation Policy

As a public entity Mesa Water is committed to rendering service at a fair and reasonable cost. Mesa Water's ability to achieve this objective is affected by a number of factors, one of which is the quality and performance of District employees. In order to attract and retain highly competent employees, promote continuous superior performance, and give full recognition to District financial constraints, the following will be considered in establishing employee compensation:

- 1. The impact of compensation on the cost of services, financial position of Mesa Water and overall operational costs.
- 2. Compensation paid for similar work in other public and private jurisdictions.
- 3. The general and specific performance of employees.
- 4. Status of the labor force, economic conditions, recruitment and retention experience and other factors influencing the maintenance of a stable and efficient work force.

B. Salary Ranges

A salary schedule is adopted by Mesa Water, which consists of a series of salary ranges and steps.

C. Merit Increases

- 1. A merit increase is advancement to a higher step in the salary range in the appropriate job classification and is based upon a recommendation of the department manager upon presentation of evidence indicating that the work of the employee has met or exceeded agreed upon standards. In no case will an employee's salary exceed the maximum range of the assigned job classification.
- 2. New employees shall receive a progress report six (6) months after employment with Mesa Water District. With the six-month evaluation the employee may receive a one-step merit increase. One (1) year after date of hire, the employee will receive a probationary evaluation at which time they may receive a merit increase if probation is passed. If their one-year anniversary date is prior to March 1st, the employee will be eligible for future merit increase occurring September 1st that same year. If the one-year anniversary date is March 1st or later, the employee will be placed in the September 1 performance evaluation cycle the following year. The timelines for the progress reports and evaluations provided to new employees may be extended pursuant to an extension of the probationary period.
- 3. Annual Evaluations: Employees shall receive at least one (1) performance evaluation per year. Performance evaluations will be prepared, discussed with the employee and a merit

- increase granted, if applicable, will become effective on September 1st each year. Consideration for future merit increases will occur annually thereafter on September 1.
- 4. Promotions & Demotions: If an employee is promoted or demoted, the employee will receive a new merit increase eligibility date (anniversary date). After successfully completing the sixmonth Probationary Period, the employee will be eligible for a merit increase at that time (anniversary date). If the six-month anniversary date is prior to March 1st, the employee will be eligible for future merit increase occurring September 1st that same year. If the six-month date is March 1st or later, the employee will be placed in the September 1 performance evaluation cycle the following year.
- 5. Merit advancement will be based upon the following:
 - a. Determination by the supervisor that the employee's performance is meeting the expectations of Mesa Water. Such determination relates to the entire job performance including, but not limited to: the quality and quantity of work, timeliness of work, efficiency, knowledge of work, working relationships, professionalism, communication skills, punctuality, regularity of attendance, and dependability, problem-solving ability, initiative, and safety practices.
 - b. Recommendation of a merit increase by the immediate supervisor and department manager.
 - c. Approval of the merit increase by the General Manager.
 - d. Approved step increases will be effective at the beginning of the pay period during which the employee's written performance evaluation is due.
- 6. Upon approval of the General Manager, a salary increase of at least one (1) step and/or a lump sum payment may be granted to an employee in a service year for proficient job performance provided, however, no employee's salary will exceed the maximum of the salary range for the assigned job classification.
- 7. The merit increases will be granted as follows:
 - a. Employees who obtain a Generally Meets rating will receive a one-time lump-sum payment of 1% of salary.
 - b. Employees who are at steps 1 through 13 and obtain a Meets/Exceeds rating will receive a one-step (2.5%) merit increase.
 - c. Employees who are at step 14 and receive a Meets/Exceeds rating will receive a one-time lump-sum payment of 1% of salary.
 - d. Employees who are at steps 1 through 12 and obtain an Outstanding rating will receive a two-step (5%) merit increase.
 - e. Employees who are at step 13 and receive an Outstanding rating will receive a one-step (2.5%) merit increase and one-time lump-sum payment of 1.5% of salary.
 - f. Employees who are at step 14 and receive an Outstanding rating will receive a one-time lump-sum payment of 2.5% of salary.

D. Payment of Compensation

1. Base Salary

Employees will be compensated with a base salary reflective of their stated salary in the operative salary tables.

2. Pay Day

Pay periods are two (2) weeks in duration, terminating each alternate Thursday. Payment will be made within the week immediately following the end of the pay period.

3. Pay Upon Termination

- a. Employees who terminate will receive their final pay on the next regularly scheduled pay day. Final pay is made up of unpaid salary for work performed, accrued and unused vacation, compensatory time and floating holiday hours to the date of termination.
- b. At the sole discretion of the General Manager, severance pay may be granted to employees terminating in return for a Release Agreement.

E. Overtime

Overtime work is a condition of employment for all employees, as may be deemed necessary by the General Manager or designee. Overtime work must be approved in advance by the employee's supervisor, except in emergency situations.

1. Eligibility for Overtime and Premium Pay

- a. Exempt Employees: Employees who are exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and who regularly work extra hours, attend evening meetings, and/or who are required to participate in job-related weekend activities or functions for which they do not receive paid overtime, may be granted time-off with pay as authorized by the General Manager.
- b. Non-Exempt Employees: Overtime worked by employees who are not exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) must be authorized in advance by the employee's supervisor in order to work overtime, except in emergency situations.

2. Rate of Pay

a. One and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate for:

- (1) Hours worked in excess of eight (8) in the workday, unless working a 9/80 schedule in which case it is in excess of nine (9), and hours worked in excess of forty (40) in an employee's designated seven (7) day work period; or
- (2) The first eight (8) hours worked on a District holiday when hours worked are in excess of forty (40) in the regular seven (7) day work period.
- b. Two (2) times the employee's regular hourly rate for:
 - (1) Hours worked in excess of eight (8) on a District holiday or on a scheduled day off when the employee receives prior notification to report to work and when hours worked are in excess of forty (40) in the regular seven (7) day work period; or
 - (2) Hours worked in excess of thirteen (13) in any work shift, when hours worked are in excess of forty (40) in the regular seven (7) day work period.
 - (3) Overtime hours worked in excess of five (5) by an employee directed to work without prior notification on a scheduled day off.
- c. For the purpose of calculating hours towards overtime, pay for sick leave, holidays and vacation will be considered as hours worked.

3. Compensatory Time

- a. Employees who are eligible to receive compensation for overtime work pursuant to this Section may request in writing that such compensation be in the form of compensatory (comp) time. Upon written approval of the employee's supervisor, the overtime hours will be credited to the employee's compensatory time bank in lieu of being paid. Crediting will be on the same basis as payment. For example, one and one-half (1.5) hours of compensatory time will be credited for an overtime hour which would otherwise be paid at the rate of time and one-half. Standby Duty hours are not eligible for comp time.
- b. Cash payouts for accrued comp time are available once each fiscal year. No additional comp time hours may be accrued after the payroll cut-off date for the fiscal year-end payout (last full pay period in June). No accrued hours may be carried over into the next fiscal year. Employees will be notified of their eligibility for a payout by the Financial Services department prior to each payout date. Employees will be paid for all accrued comp time hours upon termination.
- c. Accumulation maximums will not exceed eighty (80) hours.
- d. The scheduling of comp time off is subject to approval of the department manager who may require that requests for comp time off be submitted up to fourteen (14) days in advance of the requested time off. If District needs require a change in scheduled and approved comp time off, reasonable advance notification of such a change will be given to affected employees.

F. Standby Duty

1. General Regulations

- a. Standby Duty (Duty) is an assignment of responsibility to remain available to respond rapidly to emergency calls after the regular workday, on holidays and on weekends.
- b. The assignment is one (1) week in duration, normally from the end of shift on a particular day of the week to the end of shift on the same day the following week. The Water Operations Supervisor will establish the work schedule within this period for each employee assigned the Duty and may grant exchanges of Duty for justifiable reasons. Employees who are assigned are authorized to use the Duty truck provided by Mesa Water only for District business.
- c. Employees assigned to Standby Duty are those who have completed satisfactory training, live within twenty-five (25) miles to the nearest District boundary and meet all eligibility requirements established by the Water Operations Supervisor.
- d. In the event there are an insufficient number of employees to fulfill the requirements for Standby Duty, the Water Operations Supervisor or designee will assign employees to Standby Duty.
- e. The Water Operations Manager may adjust the Standby Duty schedule assignments in Distribution and Production to minimize additional costs due to an alternate work schedule, and to assure fairness among employees.
- f. The Standby Duty Program will be as follows:

Standby Duty Program

Description	Production	Distribution	General Employee
Mandatory Participation	Yes	Yes (for new hires after 9-12-2014)	No, but in the event there are an insufficient number of eligible and qualified employees participating in the Standby Duty, the Manager or designee will assign employees to Standby Duty.
Standby Pay	\$490/week (\$70/day; \$100/day for Recognized District Holidays*)	\$490/week (\$70/day; \$100/day for Recognized District Holidays*)	\$70/day; \$100/day for Recognized District Holidays*
Duty Pay	Employee's regular hourly rate at time and one-half, with a one- hour minimum for standby call-outs. **	Employee's regular hourly rate at time and one-half, with a one- hour minimum for standby call-outs. **	Employee's regular hourly rate at time and one-half, with one-hour minimum for standby call-outs.**

Use of District Truck	Yes	Yes	No, unless pre- approved by manager or designee. In the event of an emergency, employee would use personal vehicle and submit for mileage reimbursement.
Trade days with another qualified employee	Yes – subject to supervisor's consent	Yes – subject to supervisor's consent	Yes – subject to supervisor's consent
Split Shifts	No	No	No
Paid Daily Duties – assigned by Supervisors	When business need arises	When business need arises	When business need arises

^{*} Standby Holiday Pay will be paid on the twelve (12) recognized district holidays that occurs on the holiday itself, and not the recognized day, should the recognized day differ from the actual holiday.

G. Establishment of Rates of Pay

1. New Employees

a. Full-Time Employees

The starting rate for a newly hired employee will normally be the first step of the salary range of the class to which the position is allocated. If exceptional qualifications of the candidate indicate that a higher hiring rate would be in Mesa Water's best interest, appointment at a higher step in the salary range may be authorized by the General Manager.

b. Temporary and Part-Time Employees

Temporary and part-time employees will be paid in accordance with their employment contract, but not less than the State of California minimum wage.

2. Promotions

- a. Effective upon promotion, employees will be placed in a salary step of the new classification which grants an increase in base salary of at least five (5) percent, provided no employee's base salary will exceed the maximum of the specified salary range.
- b. The base salary of employees who successfully complete the promotion probationary period will be advanced to a step in the salary range appropriate to the employee's level

^{**} A standby "call-out" is an after-hours service call that requires the standby employee to visit the location in person, rather than responding by telephone, radio, computer, or other electronic means. Non call-out communications are paid for the actual time worked (no minimum).

of performance. This increase will be effective upon completion of probation and in no event will exceed the maximum of the range.

3. Demotions

- a. If it is determined at any time during the probationary period that a promoted employee cannot satisfactorily perform the duties of the new position, the employee will be returned to the position and step in the salary range from which promoted.
- b. The base salary of employees demoted at their own request to a position in a lower salary range will be their current salary or the maximum rate of the new position, whichever is lower.
- c. In the event of a disciplinary demotion, the employee's salary will be set at the salary rate of the lower classification, which is at least five (5) percent less than the rate received in the higher class.

4. Transfers

The base salary and merit increase eligibility dates of employees transferred to another classification in the same salary range as their former classification will be unchanged.

5. Recall from Layoff

- a. The base salary of employees recalled from layoff to a position in the same salary range as that from which they were laid off will be the same step in the salary range they were being paid when laid off.
- b. The base salary of employees recalled from layoff, or demoted in lieu of layoff, to a position in a lower salary range than they occupied when laid off or demoted in lieu of layoff will be their rate at the time of layoff or demotion in lieu of layoff, or the maximum rate for the new position, whichever is lower.

6. Out-of-Class Temporary Appointments

Employees will only be given out-of-class pay when the temporary appointment is expected to last at least longer than two (2) weeks. Employees who are given an out-of-class temporary appointment to a higher classification will be compensated as follows:

- a. Their rate of pay will remain unchanged during the first eighty (80) hours worked in such appointment.
- b. After working in excess of eighty (80) hours in an out-of-class temporary appointment the employee will be paid the minimum rate of the higher classification or at a rate five (5) percent higher than their current rate, whichever is higher. In no case will employees be

paid a rate in excess of the top step of the salary range for the position to which they are temporarily assigned.

c. Employees must meet the minimum requirements of the higher classification and must be assuming substantially the full range of duties and responsibilities of the higher-level position to be eligible for the out-of-class compensation.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571), the monetary value of Out of Class Temporary Appointments and Compensation for Temporary Assignments pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(3) Premium Pay, Temporary Upgrade Pay.

7. Compensation for Temporary Assignments

With the prior approval of the General Manager, an employee may be granted a temporary pay increase when the employee is temporarily assigned to assume, and regularly performs, some of the duties of a position that is allocated to a higher maximum rate. Generally, eligible assignments are those with an expected duration of at least 80 continuous hours.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571), the monetary value of Out of Class Temporary Appointments and Compensation for Temporary Assignments pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(3) Premium Pay, Temporary Upgrade Pay.

8. Shift Differential

Employees who are assigned on a regular basis to shift work will be compensated an additional five (5) percent above their normal salary for scheduled hours between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571), the monetary value of Shift Differential pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(4) Special Assignment Pay, Shift Differential.

9. Reclassifications

Whenever a position is reclassified and the incumbent is reclassified with the position, the incumbent may be placed at a step equal to the employee's current salary. If there is no step equal to the employee's current salary and the reclassification is to a higher salary range, the employee may be placed on the closest step that is above the employee's current salary. If there is no step equal to the employee's current salary and the reclassification is to a lower salary range, the employee may be placed on the closest step that is below the employee's current salary. In some cases, the employee may retain the salary for the old classification

until the new salary range equals or exceeds the employee's current salary (y-rate). Final determination of salary step upon reclassification rests with the General Manager.

VII. ATTENDANCE, LEAVES, AND BENEFITS

A. Vacations

1. Vacation Allowances

Full-time Mesa Water employees accrue vacation credit in accordance with the following schedule. Part-time partially benefited employees are eligible to participate in some Mesa Water benefit programs as described in the Employee Benefits Summary Handbook. Temporary employees are ineligible to receive vacation and holiday pay unless specified in their employment contract.

Period of Continuous Employment	Hours Per Pay Period
1st and 2nd years	3.40
3rd and 4th years	4.30
5th through the 9th years	5.23
10th through the 14th years	6.15
15th through the 19th years	7.10
20th year and thereafter	8.00

The maximum vacation accumulation effective April 7, 2023 for all Mesa Water employees is 360 hours.

2. Computation of Vacation Credit

- a. Vacation credit is accrued on a pay period basis except during the first and last pay periods of employment when pro-rata credit is given for hours worked.
- b. Employees must be in paid status more than one-half (1/2) of the pay period to be eligible for vacation credit.
- c. Vacation credit at the rate applicable to the affected period of continuous employment will not accrue during unexcused absences or during the following absences, which extend for twenty (20) or more consecutive working days:
 - (1) Time between a layoff and rehire.

- (2) Approved unpaid personal or indefinite military leave of absence, unless otherwise provided by law.
- (3) Approved medical leave except when the employee is receiving a payment from Mesa Water which when combined with State Disability Insurance (SDI) or Workers' Compensation payments results in the employee receiving at least ninety (90) percent of regular salary.
- d. Temporary employees do not accrue vacation credit and are not eligible to take vacation time off

3. Use of Vacation Credit

- a. Vacation credits may not be used during the first six (6) months of employment. The use of vacation credits will not exceed the number of whole days accrued by the employee as of the pay period ending date prior to the day the employee's vacation commences.
- b. An employee shall provide a minimum of two week's written advance notice, unless waived by the department manager, when requesting vacation. Requests for vacation are subject to approval of the department manager. Scheduling of vacation shall be based on the District's operational needs as determined by the department manager.
- c. Employees are encouraged to take earned vacation in increments sufficiently long to allow for the rest and rejuvenation which are objectives of the vacation program. Vacation usage of a weeks or more duration will be encouraged. In no event may vacation be used in less than one-half (1/2) hour blocks.
- d. A District holiday occurring during an employee's vacation will not be considered as a day of vacation.
- e. Jury duty occurring during an employee's vacation will not be considered as a day of vacation until Mesa Water's jury benefit has been exhausted.
- f. Subject to the provisions of the Sick Leave section of these rules, an employee who becomes ill while on vacation may use accumulated sick leave in lieu of vacation time for the period of such illness; provided, however, that Mesa Water is not obligated to extend the vacation beyond the scheduled expiration date.
- g. An employee who is receiving State Disability Insurance (SDI) or Workers' Compensation payments, and has exhausted sick leave accumulations, may use accrued vacation to supplement said payment provided that the total amount received shall not exceed ninety (90) percent of regular salary.
- h. Vacation may be used as accrued. However, in no event will paid vacation exceed the employee's accrued vacation as of the end of the most recent pay period.

4. Vacation Cash Out Program

Full-time employees who have used a minimum of forty (40) hours vacation during the preceding calendar year may make an irrevocable election to cash out up to a maximum of 120 vacation time hours in the following calendar year. The vacation time hours identified in this irrevocable election form shall be deducted from the employee's respective vacation time hours accrued in the following calendar year. The remaining unused vacation time shall remain in the employee's vacation time bank. At the time of cash out, if the employee has less vacation time hours in the vacation time bank than the amount identified on this election form, then the amount of vacation time remaining in the vacation time bank shall be cashed out provided that a minimum of forty (40) hours of vacation time remains available for use after cash out.

5. Termination

Employees who terminate will be paid for all accrued and unused vacation at their rate of pay at the time of termination.

B. Holidays

1. Recognized Holidays

Mesa Water will provide full-time employees a total of ninety-six (96) hours for twelve (12) specific recognized holidays as follows:

8 hours
8 hours

a. Recognized Holidays Falling on Saturday and Sunday

A recognized holiday falling on Saturday shall be observed on Friday, the day preceding, and a holiday falling on Sunday shall be observed on Monday, the day following. If a recognized holiday falls on a Sunday, and that Monday is also another recognized holiday, then the holiday shall be observed on Tuesday.

b. Pay for Recognized Holidays

Full-time employees are paid for eight (8) hours at their base hourly rate for each holiday which falls on a day of the week that they would normally work.

For an employee who has an alternate work schedule, and a holiday falls on a business day that the employee would normally work nine (9) hours, each affected employee shall use one (1) hour of accumulated vacation leave (if eligible), available floating holiday hours, accumulated comp time, or if none of the above are available, the employee will be given one hour leave without pay, to make up the difference.

For an employee who has an alternate work schedule, and a District recognized holiday falls on the employee's business day off, the eight (8) hours of holiday time normally taken on that day may be scheduled on an alternate business day, as approved by their supervisor. All holiday hours for a fiscal year must be used prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the hours were accumulated.

2. Floating Holidays

- a. Annual Award: Full-time Mesa Water employees receive an award of eleven (11) hours of floating holiday time at the beginning of each fiscal year. The floating holiday hours are primarily intended to supplement eight (8) hour holidays for those employees who would normally work nine (9) hours but may be taken at the option of the employee subject to the approval of the department manager or designee.
- b. Unused Hours: Any portion of the eleven (11)) hour floating holiday time which is unused at the end of the fiscal year will be converted to vacation time. Employees hired after the beginning of the fiscal year receive prorated floating holiday hours, with one fewer hour for each recognized holiday that has passed, with the exception of the Friday after Thanksgiving, an eight (8) hour holiday. Floating holiday time is created and paid on fullhour basis.

3. Eligibility for Holiday Pay

- a. Eligible employees must be in paid status for their full regularly scheduled workdays before and after the holiday to be eligible for holiday pay.
- b. Full-time probationary, regular, supervisory/confidential employees and managers are eligible for holiday pay.
- c. Temporary employees are ineligible to receive holiday pay unless specified in their employment contract.
- d. Part-time, partially benefited employees receive holiday pay as described in the Mesa Water District's <u>Employee Benefits Summary Handbook</u>.

- e. An employee on an approved medical disability, temporary military training leave of absence or other authorized paid leave will receive recognized holiday pay provided the employee is receiving a payment from Mesa Water which, when combined with State Disability or Workers' Compensation payments, results in the employee receiving at least ninety (90) percent of their regular salary. Employees on any type of unpaid leave of absence or unauthorized leave will receive no holiday pay for any holiday occurring during such absence.
- f. Employees assigned to standby duty are paid for recognized holidays in accordance with the provisions of the Standby Duty rules.
- g. Employees on jury duty will be paid holiday pay as provided above for any recognized holiday occurring during the periods of jury service.
- h. Employees who extend a holiday by unexcused absence on the last regular workday before or the next regular workday after a holiday may be subject to discipline.

C. Leaves

- 1. Sick Leave
 - a. Sick Leave Accrual

(1) Full-Time Employees

- Full-time employees accrue 3.7 hours of sick leave per pay period.
- Sick leave accruals may be carried forward each fiscal year.
- Sick leave allowance shall not be credited for unapproved absences or during the following absences, which extend for twenty (20) or more working days:
 - Approved personal or indefinite military leave of absence, unless otherwise provided by law.
 - Approved medical leave during which the employee is paid less than ninety (90) percent of regular salary in conjunction with State Disability Insurance (SDI) or Workers' Compensation.

(2) Part-Time, Temporary, and Limited Term Employees

 Part-time, temporary, and limited term employees directly employed by the District are provided with five (5) days or forty (40) hours of paid sick leave at the beginning of each 12-month period in compliance with California's Paid Sick Leave Law (effective January 1, 2024). Any unused paid sick leave from the previous 12month period will not carryover to the new 12-month period. Part-time, temporary, and limited term employees are not eligible to begin using any accrued paid sick leave until the 90th day of employment with the District.

b. Use of Sick Leave

Accumulated sick leave with pay is not considered a privilege which an employee may use at their discretion, but will only be allowed for:

- (1) For the employee's own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative care.
- (2) For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative care for an employee's family member, including:
 - Child (including a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild, legal ward, or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis.)
 - Spouse or Registered Domestic Partner
 - Parent/Parent-in-law (including biological, adoptive, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal guardian of an employee or the employee's spouse or registered domestic partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child.)
 - Grandparent
 - Grandchild
 - Sibling
 - Designated Person (must be identified at the time leave is requested and limited to one "designated person" in a 12-month period, January through December).
- (3) To obtain any relief or services related to being a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking including the following with appropriate certification of the need for such services:
 - A temporary restraining order or restraining order.
 - Other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety or welfare of themselves or their children.
 - To seek medical attention for injuries caused by domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
 - To obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis center as a result of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
 - To obtain psychological counseling related to an experience of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
 - To participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including temporary or permanent relocation.

Adopted: May 22, 2024

- c. Conditions on Sick Leave Usage
 - (1) Pursuant to Labor Code Section 233, the District shall permit full-time employees to use in any calendar year the employee's accrued and available sick leave entitlement, in an amount not less than the sick leave that would be accrued during six months at the time of the employee's then current rate of entitlement for the purposes noted above in this policy under Subsection (b) ["Use of Sick Leave"] without such use of sick leave otherwise affecting the employee's terms of conditions of employment.
 - (2) To request to use sick leave if the need is foreseeable, an employee must give the immediate supervisor reasonable advance written or oral notice. If the need for sick leave if not foreseeable, the employee shall provide written or oral notice of the need as soon as practicable. If the employee is required to be absent on sick leave for more than one day, the employee must keep the immediate supervisor informed each day as to the day the employee expects to return to work and the purpose of the leave. Failure to request sick leave as required by this policy without good reason may result in the employee being treated as absent without leave.
 - (3) Employees may be required to provide their supervisor with a written statement from the attending physician concerning the reason for the absence and a release to work to the extent permitted by law.
 - (4) The District may require that employees provide a physician's certificate to support any absence that involved the illness of the employee or family member if the District suspects that there is an abuse of sick leave by the employee. All employees who use paid leave to address issues related to domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or other crimes and who cannot provide advance notice of their need for leave must provide certification of the need for leave within a reasonable time thereafter.
 - (5) During the course of a medical leave or an extension thereof, if requested by Mesa Water, the employee shall submit to an examination by a physician designated and paid for by Mesa Water. Should Mesa Water's physician determine that the employee is able to return to work, the medical leave will be terminated in accordance with such physician's findings.
 - (6) An employee may only use sick leave for an absence on a holiday on which an employee is scheduled to work if a medical note is provided by a physician.
 - (7) Sick leave may be used as it is accrued. However, in no event will paid sick leave usage exceed the employee's accrued sick leave allowance as of the end of the most recent pay period.

- (8) The minimum charge to an employee's sick leave allowance will be one-half (1/2) hour. Absences of more than one-half (1/2) hour will be charged to the nearest full hour.
- (9) An employee will not receive compensation for unused accrued paid sick leave upon termination, resignation, retirement, or other separation from employment from the District.
- (10) If an employee separates from District employment and is rehired by the District within one-year of the date of separation, up to six (6) days or forty-eight (48) hours of previously accrued and unused paid sick leave hours shall be reinstated to the extent provided under Labor Code Section 246(f). However, if a rehired employee had not yet worked the requisite ninety (90) days of employment to use paid sick leave at the time of separation, the employee must still satisfy the ninety (90) days of employment requirement collectively over the periods of employment with the District before any paid sick leave can be used.
- (11)A supplementary payment to SDI, for both the Disability Insurance (DI) and Paid Family Leave (PFL) programs, and to Workers' Compensation payments which, when combined with said payments, results in a maximum payment of ninety (90) percent of the employee's regular salary. If an employee chooses not to submit a PFL claim under SDI, they may still use up to six-weeks of their accrued Sick Leave to care for a qualifying family member experiencing serious injury or illness, as stated in Mesa Water District's Family Care and Medical Leave policy if the leave qualifies as FMLA or CFRA leave and is due to extraordinary circumstances as approved by the General Manager or designee in advance.
- (12)Periods of incapacity due to illness, injury, disability, or pregnancy while an employee is on paid vacation may be charged to the employee's sick leave allowance provided:
 - The incapacity is of such a nature as to prevent the effective use of the vacation and would prevent the performance of normal duties if the employee were not on vacation.
 - ii. Notice is given to the employee's supervisor within four (4) calendar days of the onset of the incapacity or the end of the scheduled vacation period, whichever is earlier.
 - iii. Upon return to work, the employee presents a statement from the attending physician to the extent permitted by law.

2. FMLA/CFRA Leave

Up to twelve (12) workweeks of leave (twenty-six (26) workweeks for injured servicemember leave) without pay for family and medical care leave will be granted to employees who have

worked a minimum of 1,250 hours in the twelve (12) months preceding the date of the leave as is outlined in the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and California Family Rights Act (CFRA). As specified in the FMLA and CFRA, Mesa Water will maintain the level of benefits to which the employee is entitled per the Memorandum of Understanding with the employee responsible for maintaining a timely schedule of payments for any portion of cost over and above the allocated flex credit amount for which the employee is eligible.

Refer to Mesa Water District's Family Care and Medical Leave Policy, DM-050, for the most recent information on the FMLA.

3. Pregnancy Leave

An employee who is disabled because of pregnancy will be entitled to a leave of absence without pay for up to four (4) months so long as the employee's attending physician certifies that she is physically unable to work due to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical condition. An employee who works fewer than forty (40) hours per week will receive a pro rata or proportional amount of leave. During this unpaid leave of absence, the District may require the employee to use sick leave, and upon expiration of sick leave, the employee has the option of using earned compensatory time and/or vacation time. The Family and Medical Leave and Pregnancy Disability Leave will run concurrently as appropriate during this medical leave to the extent permitted under 2 C.C.R. Sections 11045-11046. The District will also continue providing health benefits to the employee while on pregnancy leave under the same terms and conditions as if the employee was continuously working. The District may recover premiums it paid to maintain health coverage if an employee does not return to work following pregnancy disability leave unless the reason for the failure to return is a circumstance beyond the employee's control.

Upon expiration of the approved leave, the employee will be reinstated to her former position or to a comparable one if the former position is abolished during the period of leave and the employee would otherwise not have been laid off. The comparable position is one having similar terms of pay, location, job content and promotional opportunities. Prior to the employee being reinstated, Human Resources may require a statement from the attending physician that the employee is physically capable of resuming the regular duties of her position.

Failure to return to work after the authorized leave period causes the employee to have no reinstatement rights. An employee who plans to take such a leave should give reasonable notice of the date the leave shall commence and the estimated duration of the leave.

4. Bereavement Leave

a. When an employee is absent from work because of the death of a member of the employee's extended family, the employee may take up to a maximum of five (5) days of paid bereavement leave for each such incident. A maximum of eighty (80) hours per fiscal year may be used.

- b. "Extended family" is defined as spouse, children, stepchildren, parents, stepparents, parents-in-law, grandparents, great grandparents, step-grandparents, grandparents-in-law, grandchildren, step-grandchildren, brothers/sisters, step-brothers/sisters, brothers/sisters-in-law, aunts, uncles, nieces and nephews.
- c. Bereavement leave as provided in this Section will not be charged to the employee's accumulated sick leave or vacation time.

5. Personal Leave of Absence

- a. The General Manager may grant a personal leave of absence, paid or unpaid, of not more than two (2) calendar weeks to an employee requesting it in writing at least two (2) weeks in advance of the requested start of the leave. If circumstances prevent such advance notice, this requirement may be waived.
- b. If an unusual emergency occurs which would prevent the employee from returning to work at the end of the leave, upon formal request, the General Manager may grant one (1) extension of up to two (2) calendar weeks for a total of four (4) calendar weeks.

6. Unpaid Leave

An employee who desires a leave of absence without pay, not to exceed one (1) year, shall file a written request with the department manager for approval by the General Manager or designee stating position, title, the beginning and ending dates of the proposed leave, and reasons for such request. Leave of absence without pay may be granted for illness exceeding accumulated sick leave, childcare absences exceeding pregnancy disability leave, extension of vacation time or any other reason which is deemed to be in the best interests of Mesa Water. An employee shall not be entitled to an unpaid leave as a matter of right unless mandated by law.

Leaves of absence without pay will constitute a break in employment for the purpose of determining employment status and will constitute a termination of all rights and benefits of employment except the right to reemployment as provided herein, except in cases where due process rights have attached. Vacation credits, sick leave credits, increases in salary, all other paid leaves, holidays, fringe benefits and other similar benefits will not accrue to an employee granted such leave during the period of absence. Employees who are out on FMLA leave will have access to coverage under any group medical plan under the same conditions as if the employee had been continuously employed. Upon return following an approved leave of absence, the employee will resume the status and have the rights, benefits, and accumulations thereof which the employee had on the last day preceding such leave of absence, and a new anniversary date may be adopted. Failure on the part of an employee on leave to report promptly at its expiration may be cause for disciplinary action including discharge. Employees on family medical leave without pay will be entitled to a continuation of medical benefits.

a. Job-Related Injury or Occupational Disease

An employee, who sustains a job related injury or incurs an occupational disease arising out of or during the course of employment, will be granted a leave in accordance with the law.

b. Flex Credits

If an employee is not in a paid status for more than one half (1/2) of the pay period, flex credits will not be paid for that period.

7. Child-Related Activities Leave

Per Labor Code 230.8, any District employee who is a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, or grandparent having custody of one or more children in kindergarten through grade 12 or attending a licensed childcare facility will be allowed up to forty (40) hours each school year, not to exceed eight (8) hours in any calendar month of the year, without pay, to participate in child-related activities. Employees can also use such leave to address a childcare provider or school emergency. Such employee must provide reasonable advance notice of the planned absence. The employee may be required to use vacation and/or compensatory time-off to cover the absence. Mesa Water may require the employee to provide documentation from the school as verification that the employee participated in school activities on a specific date and at a particular time. If both parents, guardians, or grandparents having custody, work for Mesa Water, only the first requesting employee will be entitled to leave under this provision.

8. Child Suspension Leave

Per Labor Code 230.7, any District employee who is a parent, or guardian of a child in kindergarten through grade12 may take time off to go to the child's school in response to a request from the child's school if the employee gives advance notice to their supervisor. A school has the authority to request that the parent attend the child's school if the child has: committed any obscene act; habitually used profanity or vulgarity; disrupted school activities; or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of school personnel.

9. Military Leave

Military leave will be granted in accordance with the provisions of state and federal law. An employee requesting leave for this purpose shall provide the department manager, whenever possible, with a copy of the military orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or mission. Within the limits of such orders, the department manager may determine when the leave is to be taken and may modify the employee's work schedule to accommodate the request for leave.

10. Jury Duty Leave

Employees who perform jury duty are granted a maximum of seven (7) business days off without loss of pay while engaged in activities required by the court provided a Jury Summons and Proof of Service form from the court are provided to the employee's department manager and/or supervisor. The General Manager may approve additional days, not to exceed eight (8) additional business days. Employees performing jury duty requiring their absence from work in excess of seven (7) business days will be granted a leave of absence for the duration of the jury duty. At the employees' option, they may use accumulated paid vacation or compensatory time to continue to receive their regular salary. In the absence of paid vacation, the leave will be without pay, however affected employees will continue to receive other District benefits and accrue seniority as if they were working.

11. Voting

Time off work for voting in general, direct primary or presidential primary elections is in accordance with the laws of California which provide, in substance:

- a. If a registered voter does not have sufficient time outside working hours in which to vote, the employee may take off enough time from work, when added to available voting time outside working hours that will enable the employee to vote. Up to two (2) hours of such time off work will be allowed before time off is deducted from the employee's pay.
- b. Time off from work must be at the beginning or end of the regular workday, whichever will permit the most free time for voting and the least time off work.
- c. At least two (2) days' notice in advance of the election must be given by the employee who requests time off work to vote.

12. Catastrophic Leave

The Catastrophic Leave Donation Program permits temporary salary and benefit continuation for an eligible employee who has exhausted all paid leave credits as a result of a catastrophic injury or illness. It is not the intent of the program for any employee to enrich him or herself, but to aid only those employees that are truly in need of assistance.

Refer to the Catastrophic Leave Donation Program for eligibility requirements, guidelines and required forms.

13. Conditions of Leave

- a. Except as otherwise provided herein, all leaves of absence will be without pay.
- b. An employee who engages in outside employment, either for another employer or in selfemployment, during a leave of absence may be deemed to have resigned without notice,

unless such activity is expressly authorized by Mesa Water at the time the leave is granted.

- c. An employee who fails to report to work upon expiration of a leave or an approved extension thereof will be deemed to have resigned without notice.
- d. Employees who are absent without approval for more than three (3) consecutive regularly scheduled work days, will be deemed to have resigned without notice.
- e. Mesa Water will not advance wages during an employee's waiting period for a leave or disability.

D. Insurance

Mesa Water provides a program of insurance for all eligible full-time employees and their dependents. Part-time partially benefited employees are eligible to participate in some Mesa Water benefit programs as described in the Employee Benefits Summary Handbook. Temporary employees are not covered by Mesa Water's insurance plans unless otherwise specified in their employment contracts.

Details concerning insurance benefits are contained in the <u>Employee Benefits Summary Handbook</u> which is issued from time to time to each eligible employee. This booklet summarizes the provisions of the Group Policy principally affecting the persons insured. The final interpretation of any specific provision in this booklet is governed by the terms of the official plan documents for each policy. Eligible employees and dependents are covered as follows:

- 1. Coverage of employees commences on the first day of the month following the date of hire. This is in accordance with current benefit plan requirements that may be modified.
- 2. Enrolled dependents are covered on the date the employee's insurance is effective or on the date an individual becomes a dependent and is enrolled, whichever is later.
- 3. With the exception of employees terminated for gross misconduct, employees who lose health care benefits due to termination or a change in category of employment may continue to receive coverage at their own expense through Mesa Water's group policy in accordance with provisions of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA).

E. Retirement Plan

Mesa Water contracts with California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS), which provides benefits to eligible employees upon retiring and, in addition, benefits to eligible employees who become permanently disabled prior to retirement.

F. Tuition Assistance

1. Purpose

In order to encourage full-time Mesa Water employees to develop and improve their jobrelated skills through continuing education, Mesa Water has established a plan of tuition assistance for employee education.

2. Eligibility

- a. To be eligible to participate, employees must have completed six-months of employment with Mesa Water.
- b. The course(s) must be approved in advance by the employee's department manager and the General Manager or designee prior to enrollment. Eligible courses must:
 - (1) Relate directly to the employee's present assignments at Mesa Water;
 - (2) Not conflict with the employee's regular work schedule, unless approved by the General Manager; and
 - (3) Be given by an accredited or approved college or school which offers full credit toward a degree for such courses. Correspondence courses will be approved, provided they are given by an accredited college which offers full credit toward a degree for such courses.

3. Reimbursement

Employees, who receive prior approval for courses or a program, continue to be employed by Mesa Water, and achieve a final grade of "C" or better will be reimbursed on a semester or course basis, whichever is applicable, at no more than the California State University rates for California residents for the cost of tuition, normal fees, and books.

G. Career Development

Employees who have completed at least one year of service with Mesa Water may be eligible for tuition assistance for additional college courses, which while not directly related to their current job, are part of an approved degree or certificate program. Tuition reimbursement approval for these courses shall be dependent upon pre-approval by the General Manager or designee and submission of an Annual Career Development Plan, and subject to the same reimbursement rules as the Tuition Assistance Program.

H. Certification and License Reimbursement

1. Many of Mesa Water's job descriptions require certification from various agencies, such as the American Water Works Association, the County of Orange, the Department of Public Health, the State of California and the Department of Motor Vehicles. To encourage employees to obtain the required certification and to promote advancement from within Mesa Water, a certification reimbursement program has been established.

- 2. Application fees associated with any examination taken for the first time, including all certification upgrades will be paid by the employee. The employee will be reimbursed by Mesa Water upon presenting proof of successfully passing the exam and obtaining the certification.
- 3. Renewal fees for certification currently held by employees will be paid by Mesa Water directly to the certifying agency. It is the employee's responsibility to submit the certification renewal notice from the State for payment within a timely manner of receipt, as the Regulations require that renewal fees be paid at least four (4) months before the expiration date. Mesa Water will not pay any late fees incurred by employees because of untimely submission of fee invoices to District officials for any reason.
- 4. Class A driver's license fees will be paid by Mesa Water directly to the Department of Motor Vehicles. Likewise, Mesa Water will make payment directly to the physician providing the physical examination portion of the test. If an employee fails the written or driving portion of the Class A test, the employee will be required to pay any future fees for re-testing, until he/she successfully passes. If the employee fails to pass the written or driving portions of the test prior to termination of employment, the employee will be required to reimburse Mesa Water for any fees Mesa Water had previously paid to the Department of Motor Vehicles on the employee's behalf.
- 5. Employees are responsible for enrolling, participating in, and tracking any/all required training to obtain and maintain the certificates or licenses required to perform their jobs. If the contact hour training is provided by Mesa Water on work time, or if Mesa Water requires an employee to attend a specific program or class, then the fees and time to attend the class will be paid by Mesa Water. Coursework obtained from accredited colleges or universities are subject to tuition assistance as provided for in Chapter VII, Section F.
- 6. Technical Certification Incentive Program awards an annual payment each December to employees who hold one or more current and valid certification(s), issued by the California Department of Public Health (DPH) and/or American Water Works Association (AWWA), at a rate of \$100 for each certification level above the minimum required in their job specification. Where the employee's job specification does not indicate a minimum certification level, the maximum annual payment will be \$100 per DPH or AWWA certificate held. Same certifications from different agencies will only be eligible for this program once.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571), the monetary value of Technical Certification Incentive Program and Professional Certification Incentive Program pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(2) Educational Pay, Educational Incentive.

7. Professional Certification Incentive Program (PCIP) awards a \$500 one-time payment to an employee who, while employed by Mesa Water, completes an educational course of study or program resulting in a college degree or relevant professional certification, which was approved in advance for the PCIP by Mesa Water's General Manager. Upon completion of the degree or professional certification, and upon verification by Human Resources, then payment will be awarded to the employee and the employee will be recognized at the next scheduled All-Employee Event.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571), the monetary value of Technical Certification Incentive Program and Professional Certification Incentive Program pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(2) Educational Pay, Educational Incentive.

I. Uniforms

All employees who are provided with uniforms, or receive an annual allowance for safety boots, are required to wear them at all times on the job. Uniforms and safety boots must be clean and in good condition.

- a. Mesa Water employees are allowed up to \$400 per fiscal year to purchase approved safety boots.
- b. Mesa Water will reimburse one boot insert per safety boot purchased, as long as the total does not exceed \$400.
- c. Should employees' purchased boots become unusable before the fiscal year is over, they will be eligible to purchase new boots with a new \$400 limit.
- d. Employees will need to bring in their old boots for supervisor/manager verification and complete the Boot Reimbursement Form in order to be reimbursed.
- e. Any falsification of information by employees found during the Boot Reimbursement Program will result in said employee being subject to discipline including and up to, termination.

In compliance with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations and definition of Special Compensation (2 CCR Section 571) FOR CLASSIC MEMBERS ONLY as defined by the Public Employees' Pension Act of 2013, the monetary value of the rental and maintenance of the required uniforms shall be reported to CalPERS as Special Compensation as described in Title 2 CCR, Section 571(a)(5) Statutory Items, Uniform Allowance.

J. Service Awards

Upon completion of one (1) year and each five (5) year segment of service, employees are presented an appropriate service award by Mesa Water. For calculating years of service, the total number of years worked are counted regardless if a break in service occurs. Service awards will be recognized in the calendar year in which the anniversary date falls.

VIII. LAYOFF AND RECALL

A. Layoff

- 1. In the event a reduction in Mesa Water's labor force becomes necessary, Mesa Water will determine employees who are to be laid off, with consideration given to work needs, work performance and length of continuous employment.
- 2. Mesa Water will first determine the classifications from which employees subject to layoff will be drawn. All employees in the selected classifications will be subject to layoff, except employees who have special or unique skills essential to District operations. Part-time, temporary, and new probationary employees in classifications from which positions are to be eliminated will be subject to layoff or termination prior to regular employees.
- 3. Work performance will be the primary determinant of the order of layoff among employees subject to layoff. Employees whose performance is the least satisfactory will be laid off first. Among employees whose work performance is relatively equal, those employees with less continuous employment will be laid off first. Performance will be determined by a review of the employee's last performance evaluation and disciplinary actions, if any, during the last two (2) years.

B. Displacement/Bumping Rights

Regular employees who have been designated for layoff but have held regular status in a lower level classification within the same classification series or department may displace employees in the lower classification provided the employee displacing has greater classification length of service than the incumbent being bumped. The employee bumping must also have a satisfactory or better rating on the last performance evaluation. If an employee in the higher classification has not held status in a lower classification or does not meet the qualifications of the lower classification, then no displacement options will become available to that individual.

C. Reemployment List

- 1. Regular employees who have received a "meets standards" or better performance evaluation for all of the twelve (12) months prior to layoff, have completed their probationary period, have not been denied a merit increase during the twelve (12) months prior to layoff, and who have been laid off will be placed on a reemployment list for the classification from which they were laid off.
- 2. Employees laid off for a continuous period in excess of one (1) year shall no longer be eligible for recall, and their names shall be removed from the reemployment list. However, an employee may request that his/her name be retained on the list for an additional year if the request is received prior to the end of the one (1) year period.

D. Recall

- 1. When new jobs are created or vacancies occur, Human Resources will determine whether there are employees on the reemployment list or employees who have been given notice of intended layoff and who are qualified to fill such jobs. For purposes of this section, "qualified" is defined as an employee who held a regular position with Mesa Water at the time of layoff, has received a "meets standards" or better performance evaluation for all of the twelve (12) months prior to the layoff or to receiving a notice of intended layoff, has not been denied a merit increase during the twelve (12) months prior to layoff and meets all of the minimum requirements for the new or vacant position. In cases where there is no current performance evaluation on file, the most recent performance evaluation will be used.
- 2. Employees on the reemployment list are eligible to be recalled in reverse order of layoff, first, to a position in the class from which they were laid off. If no vacancies occur in their former class, and if they are qualified, they are eligible for recall to another position in a lower class.
- 3. An employee who is offered and refuses to accept a position in the class from which they were laid off, will lose all reemployment rights under these rules.

IX. SAFETY

- A. The provisions of Mesa Water District's Safety Policies and Injury and Illness Prevention Program (Mesa Water's Policy HSE-019) are adopted by reference and made part of these Rules & Regulations. Upon employment, employees are given a copy of Mesa Water's Injury and Illness Prevention Program document, made aware of the Safety Policies, and are required to comply with their provisions. Attendance at Mesa Water's safety meetings is mandatory unless otherwise approved by the appropriate department manager.
- B. Injuries sustained on the job must be reported to the injured employee's supervisor as soon as possible and within twenty-four (24) hours after the injury occurred.
- C. Employees are required to conform to District policies governing the operation of District vehicles and use of private vehicles for District business (Mesa Water District's Policy DM-013).

X. PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

A. Evaluation Process

Performance evaluation is an on-going process assessing individual employee performance as to such job-related factors of quantity, quality, and timeliness of work, efficiency, knowledge, working relationships, dependability, attendance, professionalism, communication skills, problem-solving ability, initiative, safety practices and other work related areas. An employee must give satisfactory performance and meet expected standards to be eligible for a merit increase, lump sum payment, or promotion. Deficiencies in performance by an employee may result in a decrease in salary, suspension, demotion or dismissal.

Department managers shall periodically provide feedback to their employees regarding their performance and rate the performance of each employee twice a year (progress reports in March and annual evaluations in September); provided, however, that the department managers may delegate the responsibility for rating the performance of specified employees in their departments to that employee's supervisor. Interim reports may be completed as necessary when changes in work performance occur. Each employee will be informed in such reports of strengths and weaknesses. The employee shall sign the report to acknowledge its contents. The employee will have the opportunity to respond to the performance evaluation within five (5) business days unless the department manager grants an extension. The performance reports will not be subject to any grievance and/or appeal procedure.

B. Problem Solving Process

While performance evaluations are not subject to grievance, Mesa Water provides a problemsolving process to assure open lines of communication between employees and their supervisors, preferably at the lowest possible level within the department.

The problem-solving process includes the following steps:

1. An employee who disagrees with the performance evaluation may request a follow-up or second meeting with the evaluator for the purpose of providing additional information and requesting a modification. The employee must request the meeting, in writing, within five (5) business days of the date the employee received the evaluation. The evaluator will make a reasonable effort to schedule such a meeting within five (5) business days of the request. The employee may bring another employee for support at their option, but this individual may not serve as an advocate or an employee representative at this meeting. The name of the additional employee shall be provided to the evaluator in the written request for the meeting.

The employee and the evaluator shall meet in a spirit of cooperation and attempt to resolve any disagreements or questions. The evaluator may provide a written response to the employee within ten (10) business days of the meeting. This additional time may be necessary to research, process new/additional information and prepare a response. A copy of the above-referenced correspondence will be placed, along with the evaluation, in the

employee's personnel file.

2. An employee who is not satisfied with the written response from the evaluator, may request a meeting with the General Manager or designee to present the same information. Such request shall be made, in writing, within five (5) business days of receipt of the response from the evaluator. Every reasonable effort will be made to schedule a meeting within ten (10) business days of the request. The employee may bring another employee for support at their option, but this individual may not serve as an advocate or an employee representative at this meeting. The name of the additional employee shall be provided to the General Manager in the written request.

The employee and the General Manager shall meet in a spirit of cooperation and attempt to resolve any disagreements or questions. The General Manager may provide a written response to the employee within ten (10) business days of the meeting. This additional time may be necessary to research, process new/additional information and prepare a response. A copy of the above-referenced correspondence will be placed, along with the evaluation, in the employee's personnel file.

The decision of the General Manager shall be final.

NOTE: As permitted by the Rules and Regulations, Chapter X. Performance Evaluations, an employee shall have the right to submit a written response to the evaluation. If the problem-solving process is utilized, the time frame to submit this rebuttal/response may be increased from five (5) business days to an amount of time not to exceed thirty (30) days from the date the employee received the performance evaluation.

XI. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

A. Purpose

A grievance procedure has been established for the following purposes:

- To promote improved employer/employee relations by establishing an appropriate means for determining the validity of grievances, i.e., Mesa Water has violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied an obligation to the employee as such obligation is expressed and written in these Rules and Regulations.
- 2. To provide a method of resolving such claims as closely as possible to the point of origin and as informally as possible.
- 3. To encourage communications between supervisors and employees.

B. Grievance Procedure Steps

1. Step One: Supervisor

An employee who has a grievance shall first discuss it informally with the immediate supervisor within five (5) business days after the employee knew or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known of the occurrence of the cause for grievance.

2. Step Two: Department Manager

If the grievance is not resolved within five (5) business days after its submission in Step One, the employee may submit the grievance in writing to the department manager within five (5) business days thereafter. The department manager or designee will meet with the employee within five (5) business days after submission of the grievance and will deliver an answer in writing to the employee within five (5) business days after such meeting. At this and all subsequent steps in the grievance procedure, the employee has the right and option to present their grievance with or without a representative.

3. Step Three: General Manager

If the grievance is not resolved in Step Two, the employee may submit it in writing to the General Manager within five (5) business days after the department manager's answer is received. The General Manager or designee will meet with the employee within ten (10) business days after receiving the grievance and will deliver an answer to the employee in writing within ten (10) business days after such meeting. The decision of the General Manager shall be final. If the General Manager is directly involved in the incident, the grievance shall be heard by a neutral third party.

C. General Provisions

- 1. Upon receiving an employee request, the General Manager or designee may approve the use of regular working hours for an employee to meet with a representative to prepare and present the grievance, otherwise such meeting must be held off the job.
- If appeal is not made within the time limits indicated, the grievance will be considered to be settled on the basis of the last decision rendered. Any grievance not responded to within the prescribed time limits shown will automatically advance to the next step unless the time limit is extended by mutual agreement.
- 3. If the grievance relates to conduct covered under the District's Discrimination, Harassment, and Retaliation Policy and Complaint Procedure, then the complaint procedure of that policy should be followed (Mesa Water District's Policy DM-012).
- 4. Employees are assured freedom from reprisal for using the grievance procedure.

XII. DISCIPLINARY ACTION

A. Cause for Disciplinary Action

It is intended that discipline be imposed primarily for corrective purposes and to address deficiencies in work performance. The following is a non-exclusive list of the more common causes for disciplinary action:

- Action or inaction contrary to the personnel system, Rules and Regulations and policies of Mesa Water District;
- 2. Inefficiency or incompetence;
- 3. Willful disobedience or insubordination;
- 4. Dishonesty;
- 5. Possession, distribution, sale, use, or being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs or narcotics while on duty or while operating a District vehicle or other potentially dangerous equipment;
- 6. Discourteous treatment of other employees or the public, or abuse of the employee's position in dealing with other employees or the public;
- 7. Conviction of a felony or misdemeanor where the type of crime is related to their employment;
- 8. Absence without approved leave;
- 9. Neglect of duty;
- 10. Failure to follow safe working practices or failure to promptly report an injury;
- 11. Disruptive, disorderly, or unfavorable conduct;
- 12. Mental or physical incapacity to perform duties, and if disabled are unable to be reasonably accommodated, or present a direct threat to the health and/or safety of self or of others;
- 13. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness;
- 14. Workplace violence or credible threats of violence;
- 15. Damage to, misappropriation or waste of public equipment, property, supplies, or other District resources due to negligence or willful acts;
- 16. Fraud in securing employment or making a false statement on an application for employment;

- 17. Abuse of sick leave, i.e., taking sick leave without a doctor's certificate when one is required, or misuse of sick leave;
- 18. An egregious act or pattern of poor professional judgment causing harm to Mesa Water; or
- 19. Other conduct not consistent with the employee's status as an employee of Mesa Water.

These reasons are indicative and not restrictive and discipline may be based on reasons other than those specifically mentioned above.

B. Kinds of Counseling, Reprimands, and Disciplinary Action

The following counseling, reprimands and disciplinary action may be taken against any employee either by the General Manager or designee:

- 1. Written Counseling Notice: A counseling memo will be provided to an employee to identify: a failure of appropriate conduct or performance issue; the performance the employee is to demonstrate in the future; and consequences for failure to correct the behavior or problem.
- 2. Written Reprimand: A written reprimand is written direction from a supervisory employee to discontinue inappropriate conduct or to correct a performance issue.
- 3. Suspension: An involuntary absence with or without pay
- 4. Reduction in Pay, temporary or permanent
- 5. Demotion: Movement from a position in one class to a position in another class having a lower salary range affected for disciplinary purposes.
- 6. Dismissal: Discharge from employment with Mesa Water

C. Notification of Proposed Disciplinary Action

Employees having "for cause" rights are entitled to the following procedure before a disciplinary action of suspension, reduction in pay, demotion, or dismissal is implemented:

- 1. The employee receives a preliminary written notice of the proposed action stating the date it is intended to become effective and the specific grounds and particular facts upon which the proposed action is based.
- 2. Along with this notice, the employee is provided with any known written materials, reports, or documents upon which the action is based.
- 3. The employee is notified of and has the right to respond informally, either orally, in writing or both, to the proposed charges within a reasonable time. (A copy of the notice will be sent to the General Manager.)

D. Administrative Review

All employees, with the exception of management, probationary, limited term, part-time and temporary employees shall have the right to an Administrative Review of a disciplinary suspension, salary reduction, demotion, or dismissal. Such review will be conducted by the General Manager or designee prior to the effective date of the disciplinary action unless unusual circumstances justify an effective date which makes prior review unfeasible. In this event, the review will be conducted within a reasonable period of time after the effective date of the disciplinary action. The employee will be provided copies of materials supportive of the disciplinary action and, if requested, permitted to appear personally before the reviewing officer. The employee will be informed of the decision of the Administrative Review with a final notice of discipline. An Administrative Review will not affect any rights the employee may have under provisions of the Grievance Procedure.

E. Hearing Officer Proceeding

Hearing Officer: A hearing officer shall be designated by the General Manager.

All employees, with the exception of management, probationary, limited term, part-time and temporary employees shall have the right to appeal from a final notice of discipline. The employee must submit the appeal in writing to the Chief Administrative Officer, who will forward the appeal to the designated Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer will present his/her findings in the form of a recommendation to the General Manager, who will make a final decision. The request for an appeal in front of a Hearing Officer must be received no later than five (5) calendar days from the date of the final notice of discipline.

Date and Time of the Appeal Hearing – The Hearing Officer will set a date for an appeal hearing within a reasonable time after receipt of a timely written request for appeal. An employee who, having filed a timely request for appeal, has been notified of the time and place of the appeal hearing, and who fails to appear personally at the hearing, may be deemed to have abandoned his or her appeal. In such a case, the Hearing Officer may dismiss the appeal.

Identification of Issues, Witnesses and Evidence – No later than ten (10) days prior to the appeal hearing, each party will provide the other and the Hearing Officer a statement of the issues to be decided, a list of all witnesses to be called (except rebuttal witnesses), a brief summary of the subject matter of the testimony of each witness, and a copy of all evidence (except rebuttal evidence) to be submitted at the hearing. The District will use numbers to identify its evidence; the employee shall use alphabet letters. Neither party will be permitted to call any witness during the hearing who has not been identified pursuant to this section, nor use any exhibit not provided pursuant to this section, unless that party can show that they could not have reasonably anticipated the need for the witness or exhibit. The Hearing Officer will state at the beginning of the hearing the decision as to the precise issue(s) to be decided.

Procedures – The Hearing Officer will explain the procedure that is to be followed including:

- 1. All disciplinary hearings may, at the discretion of the parties, be either recorded by a court reporter or tape recorded. Any party who requests a transcript of the proceedings must pay for his/her/its own copy of a transcript.
- 2. Witnesses shall be excluded from the room until their own testimony has been completed and they are released from any possibility of being recalled as witnesses from the current or future proceeding.
- 3. The Hearing Officer will administer an oath or affirmation to all witnesses.

Each party shall have the right to the following: To call and examine witnesses, present exhibits, introduce exhibits, cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even if that matter was not covered in the direct examination, impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify and rebut the evidence against the witness. If the employee does not testify in his/her own behalf, the employee may be called and examined as if under cross-examination.

Exhibits – Documents offered as exhibits are subject to objection by the other side. The Hearing Officer will rule upon objections to documents. The Hearing Officer will also determine when a document will be received as an exhibit. The other party, the Hearing Officer, and the witness shall be presented a copy of an exhibit, if offered.

Conduct of the Hearing – The hearing need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely on in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule, which might have made improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence but shall not be sufficient in and of itself to support a finding, unless hearsay exemption applies. The rules dealing with privileges shall be effective to the same extent that they are now or hereafter may be recognized in civil actions.

After witnesses and documents have been presented, the Hearing Officer will declare that the receipt of evidence is concluded and the Hearing Officer is ready to proceed with summary and argument of the parties.

Burden of Proof at the Hearing – The District has the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

Hearing Demeanor and Behavior – All parties and their attorneys or representatives shall not, by written submission or oral presentation, disparage the intelligence, ethics, morals, integrity or personal behavior of their adversaries or the Hearing Officer.

Presentation of the Case – The parties will address their remarks, evidence, and objections, to the Hearing Officer. The Hearing Officer may terminate argument at any time and issue a ruling regarding an objection or any other matter. The Hearing Officer may alter the order of witnesses,

limit redundant or irrelevant testimony, or directly question the witness. The hearing shall proceed in the following order unless the Hearing Officer directs otherwise:

- 1. The District shall be permitted to make an opening statement.
- 2. The employee shall be permitted to make an opening statement.
- 3. The District shall produce its evidence.
- 4. The employee shall produce his or her evidence.
- 5. The District, followed by the employee, may offer rebuttal evidence.
- 6. Closing arguments of no more than twenty (20) minutes shall be permitted at the discretion of the Hearing Officer. The District shall have the right to argue first, the employee may argue second, and the District may reserve a portion of its argument time for rebuttal.

Written Briefs by the Parties – The Hearing Officer or the parties may request the submission of written briefs. The Hearing Officer will determine whether to allow written briefs, the deadline for submitting briefs, and the page limit for briefs.

Findings – The Hearing Officer shall render a statement of findings and recommendation to the General Manager within fourteen (14) days after the hearing has been completed and the briefs, if any, have been submitted. The decision of the General Manager is final.

Proof of Service of the Written Findings and Decision – The General Manager shall send his/her final statement of written findings and decision, along with a proof of service of mailing, to each of the parties and to each of the parties' representatives.

Statute of Limitations – The General Manager's written findings and decision is final. There is no process for reconsideration. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.6, the parties have ninety (90) days from the date of the proof of service of mailing of the written findings and decision to appeal in the Superior Court of County of Orange.

F. Record of Disciplinary Action

Written Warnings, as set forth in Section B., which have been included in an employee's personnel file for one (1) year or more may be destroyed, upon request of the employee, provided that during the period since the issuance of such warning(s), the employee's conduct and job performance has been satisfactory.

XIII. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

A. Employee Rights

Mesa Water and the Mesa Water District Employees Association (MWDEA), associated with the Orange County Employees Association (OCEA), recognize the rights of unit members to form, join, and participate in the activities of the employee organization for the purpose of representation on all matters of employer-employee relations. The scope of representation shall include all matters relating to employment conditions and employer-employee relations including, but not limited to, wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment. (GC Sections 3502, 3504).

B. Payroll Deductions

- 1. Membership dues and authorized health insurance premiums of MWDEA/OCEA members in the Represented Unit shall be deducted from employee's pay on the regular pay cycle provided that the employee has given written authorization for such deduction to MWDEA/OCEA. Mesa Water shall transmit the dues and the premiums after the pay date, in accordance with the regular accounting/payroll process. In the event of a payroll delay from the outside vendor, Mesa Water will advise the organization and seek to remedy the problem as soon as practicable.
- 2. Mesa Water will notify MWDEA/OCEA by e-mail of the separation of members in the Represented Unit in a timely manner after they have completed their termination paperwork.
- 3. OCEA shall notify Mesa Water, in writing, as to the amount of dues deduction required prior to commencing the payroll deduction. In addition, should there be any change in the amount, responsibility for notifying employees and Mesa Water will be that of the employee organization.

C. Employee Information Listing

In compliance with AB 119, Mesa Water will provide OCEA with a listing of current employees who are in classifications represented by the Unit. This shall include the employees' names, job classifications, salary ranges and steps.

D. Bulletin Boards

Space on bulletin boards in the employee lunchrooms of both District buildings shall be made available to OCEA/MWDEA for the exclusive use of the Association. Such use shall not interfere with the operation of Mesa Water, nor shall any information be posted that is derogatory to District Board or management, employees or ratepayers. Posted notices shall be dated and signed or initialed by the authorized representatives of OCEA and/or MWDEA responsible for their issuance. Stale notices shall be removed.

XIV. EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION

A. Grievance Representation

An employee of Mesa Water District may choose to be his/her own representative or may be represented by MWDEA/OCEA in the grievance procedure.

B. Authorized Grievance Representatives

Authorized grievance representatives will be either OCEA staff or regular employees. Should they be regular employees, they shall be in the same Representation Unit at Mesa Water District, who are members of the MWDEA and designated by OCEA to be representatives in the process. They shall have at least satisfactory performance evaluations and attendance and be knowledgeable about the duties of the affected employee who is being represented.

Upon request, OCEA shall send to Mesa Water a notice in writing informing the District of any changes to the authorized representatives of the employees, and/or list of those representatives who have received training in representing employees and are authorized by OCEA to do so on behalf of the organizations.

C. Number of Representatives

Representation at the informal and first steps of the grievance procedure shall be limited to one (1) authorized representative, but request for such representation must be made in advance.

D. OCEA Attendance

If an employee chooses not to be represented by OCEA, OCEA staff may request that Mesa Water permit them to be present at meetings above Step 1 of the grievance procedure. However, the purpose would be solely to protect its duty of fair representation and not to comment on the substance of the grievance itself.

E. Time Off

Reasonable time off without loss of pay will be given to an employee and an authorized representative for the following purposes: to meet to prepare and/or resolve a grievance, to conduct relevant research on the potential grievance issues or to attend an appeal hearing. Advance approval for release time shall be obtained from the appropriate department manager.

F. Requirements of Time Off

The following requirements shall apply, at all times:

1. The grievant and one authorized representative shall obtain permission for the time needed to meet, if during the regular scheduled work hours, and define the location of the meeting.

- 2. They shall make effective use of the release time from work and if there is any question regarding the appropriateness of the use of time, the representatives will respond to the General Manager or designee on the matter.
- 3. While the work time off shall not be disruptive to the work of the unit or interfere with the work, Mesa Water's management will make an effort to cooperate with a reasonable request, so long as it is made in advance.

G. Good Faith Effort

Both parties agree that this article shall be applied in good faith, with the mutual goal of assuring good communication and effective resolution of problems.